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news articles appear more often in the social  which helps to drive 
readership to the news organization.  Id. at ¶ 6.  A promotional Facebook post linking to a Post 
news article looks very similar to a regular post linking to a Post news article that appears 

¶ 8. 
Id. at 

The Post promotes a wide variety of its most popular news content on Facebook.  Wells 
es to promote to support its news business, and 

based on its judgment of what will be most interesting to readers.  Id. at ¶ 11.  The Post makes 
these decisions internally and without coordination with any outside party (including any 
political campaign). Id. at ¶ 12.  The overwhelming majority of the articles that The Post 
promotes on Facebook are not related to politics.  Id. at ¶ 13. For example, during the lead-up to 
the recent presidential election, more than 95% of the articles The Post promoted on Facebook 
were not about politics.  Id. 

2 

2 As supposed evidence of coordination, one Complaint points to an instance in which The Post 
quoted the Harris campaign in a news article that was among the articles The Post later promoted 
on Facebook.  MUR 8343 at 3.  But The Post as part of its journalism regularly quoted both the 
Harris and Trump campaigns in its news articles, including articles it later promoted on 
Facebook.  That is journalism, not campaign coordination.  See, e.g., Exhibit D (promoted Post 

quoting Trump campaign spokeswoman Karoline Leav 
his first term promises to build the wall, rebuild the economy, and make America respected again 
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 On October 31, 2024, the Center for American Rights and Donald J. Trump for President 
2024, Inc. filed similar complaints with the FEC alleging that The Post had committed federal 
election law violations by prom 

trait of Vice Presiden 
5.  The Complaints were solely based on an October 30, 2024 article on the news site Semafor 

on of articles on Facebook.  MUR 8342 ¶ 3; MUR 8343 

 

acknowledge that Semafor explained that it is standard practice in the news industry to promote 
many news organizations, the Post pays a small 

amount each month to show articles in feeds on 
explanation for its promotion, also published by 

Semafor, which disproves the allegations: 

news articles that The Post paid to promote were not even about politics at all.  Wells Decl. 

ARGUMENT 

 As both a factual and legal matter, the Complaints are wholly without merit and should 
be dismissed.  This is so for three separate and independently sufficient reasons.  First, the 

are incorrect; The Post did not promote articles on Facebook in 
service of any candidate, but rather, to gain readers and subscribers.  This promotion of The 

d on reader interest, does not violate any rule regarding in-kind 
corporate contributions or independent expe 
exemption prohibits a finding of a violation because the underlying conduct being promoted by 

d, the First Amendment 
 news articles from a finding of a violation.  

olation occurred, and The Post requests that the 
Commission dismiss the Complaints.  52 U.S.C. § 30109.    
 

I. The Complaints Should Be Dismissed Because They Are Factually Erroneous 
and Fail to Establish any Violation Occurred.  

 
The allegations in the Complaints are speculative and demonstrably false.  They should 

FEC v. Phillips Pub., Inc., 517 F. Supp. 1308, 1314 (D.D.C. 1981).  While the Complaints claim 
both in-kind and independent expenditure violations, they fail to establish either.  This is hardly 
surprising, as the Complaints are based on mischaracterizing common and appropriate practices 
in journalism as unlawful campaign spending. 
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trates, The Post did not promote its news 
articles in order to support any political campaign.  Wells Decl. ¶¶ 12, 18.  Instead, it paid to 
increase the distribution of its lmingly concerned with topics 

ence of social media users.  Id. 
selected its articles to promote because they were popular and interesting to its readers.  Id. at 
¶¶ 5, 11, 16.  This is standard practice in the news industry.  Id. see also Exhibit F 

Like many news organizations, the Post pays a small amount 
each month to show articles in feeds on Facebook a 
added).3  It is not a campaign finance violation. 

 
These facts support neither an in-kind contribution nor independent expenditure 

violation. 
 

ons are not in-kind contributions.  To have made an in-kind 

promote certain articles on Facebook.  11 C.F.R. § 109.21(d)(2); 52 U.S.C. § 30118(a).  But the 
Harris campaign had absolutely no involvement wh 
news articles on Facebook.  Wells Decl. ¶¶ 12, 19.  The Harris campaign had no influence over 

tions to the contrary are supported by nothing 
more than speculation, and are demonstrably false.  That in one or more of the hundreds of 
articles that The Post later promoted on Facebook, The Post reported on certain statements from 
a political campaign, MUR 8343 at 3, does not show that the campaign being reported on was 

shows that The Post was reporting on the campaigns contesting a presidential election, and 
promoting its journalism.  For example, The Post also promoted articles that quoted the Trump 
campaign, but that does not mean it coordinated its promotional efforts with that campaign, 
either.  Wells Decl. ¶¶ 12, 17, 19; Exhibit E.  Th 
Post with a presidential campaign are irresponsible and utterly false. 

 
The Complaints are also wrong to contend th 

articles was a prohibited independent expenditure.  To be a reportable independent expenditure, 
the communication at issue must be only be interpreted by a 

ndidate.  11 C.F.R. § 100.22 (emphasis added); 52 
U.S.C. § 30104(g)(1).  The Co

Statement of Reasons of Chairman Sean J. 
Cooksey and Cmrs. Allen J. Dickerson, Dara Linde

 
3 For example, multiple media organizations promoted themselves through posts that were 
arguably supportive of the Trump campaign.  See, e.g., Exhibit G (Fox News promoting an 

xhibit H (Daily Caller advertisement promoting 
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6, MURs 8215, 8216 (Last Best Place PAC).  Here, the Semafor article cited in the Complaints 
ge of Vice President Harris relatively 

neutral  as described in one Complaint, MUR 8343 
rpretation is what the facts show to be the truth:  The Post 

promoted its most popular 
 

II. 
Marketing of Its News Content. 

 

covering or carrying a news stor 
unless the facility is owned or controlled by any political 

see also 11 CFR § 100.73.  In 
creating the press exemption, the unfettered right of the 

93-1239, 93d Cong., 2d Sess. at 4 (1974); see also Advisory Op. 2005-16 at 5 (Fired Up!).   
 

An undisturbed line of Commission and federal court decisions holds that the press 
exemption protects a news organi ws content, including on social 

at 7 (Citizens United); see also, e.g., Phillips Pub., 517 F. Supp. at 1309, 1313 (applying press 
exemption and prohibiting the Commission from 
[complained of] solicitation letter was to publicize [a newsletter] and obtain new subscribers, 

, 509 
isement for article would be covered by 

Commission recently dismissed a complaint about Courier Newsroom paying to promote articles 
primarily supportive of Democratic candidate 

ourier Newsroom, Inc., et al.).   
 

ng to the actual news articles that appear 
promotion presents to readers 

sory Op. 2011-11 at 7 (Viacom); see 
also FEC v. Mass. Citizens for Life 
easier case than Courier Newsroom, because The 
overwhelmingly unrelated to political issues, and featured promotion of coverage of more than 

rlying articles must 
see Advisory Op. 2010-08 at 

7 (Citizens United). 
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The Complaints ask the Commission to depart from its precedent by arguing the press 

8343 at 5.  They are wrong.  The regulatory pres 
C.F.R. §§ 100.73, 100.132.  Paying to increase the 

distribution of a news article is 
Wells Decl. ¶ 7; see, e.g., Courier Newsroom at 19.4

 
III. The First Amendment Otherwise Bars the Complaints. 

 
The First Amendment in any event independently protects The Post from a finding of an 

election law violation here.  Ther reement that a major purpose of 
[the First] Amendment was to protect the free discussion of governmental affairs.  This of course 
includes discussions of candidates, structures and forms of government, the manner in which 
government is operated or should be operated, and all such matters relating to political 

Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S. 214, 218-19 (1966).  Such protection from regulation 
includes choices about how to format the newspa 

Miami Herald Pub. Co. v. Tornillo, 418 U.S. 241, 258 (1974).  Those 
protections extend to how a newspaper markets its editorial content beca 

ion of the clearly protected editorial use of the content of the 
Leddy v. Narragansett Television, L.P., 843 A.2d 481, 490 (R.I. 2004) (quoting 

 524 N.Y.S.2d 186, 187 (App. Div. 1988)); Montana v. San Jose 
Mercury News 
promote itself by reproducing its originally protected articles See also 
Advisory Op. 2010-08 at 7 (Citizens United); Courier Newsroom at 19.  

 

 
4  The CAR Complaint cites two cases to argue that the press exemption should not apply.  
Neither case supports its argument.  First, in McConnell v. FEC, the Supreme Court stated that 
the press exemption was narrower than a sweep carte 
blanche ending just because they are media companies.  540 U.S. 93, 
208 (2003), , 558 U.S. 310 (2010).  But 

id., which is what 
the promoted Post articles are.  Indeed, the Commission has consistently emphasized that it has 

broadly ssed intent that the Act not 
limit or burden in any way the First Amendment 
Courier Newsroom at 20 (emphasis added) 

itizens United); Advisory Op. 2011-11 at 7 
(Viacom).  Second, the Complaint cites Citizens United v. Gessler, 773 F.3d 200, 218 (10th Cir. 
2014), a case concerning the Colorado Constitution and a Colorado statute, not the 

Id. at 
Fair Campaign Practices Act).  But that case expressly declined to reach the question of whether 

Id. 
at 218 n. 10. 
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At least two federal courts have also warned that Commission investigations into press 
advertisements would interfere with the news en rights. After a party 

illegal corporate expenditure by producing and 
distributing video tapes of a reenactment of Senator Ted 
Chappaquiddick Island, the court said the pres 

the video and warned th 

Digest 
investigated a newsletter that solicited 

subscriptions with an advertisement that advocated against the election of Senator Kennedy.  
Phillips Publishing, 517 F. Supp. at 1314.  

itical coverage is protected by the First 
Amendment.  

*** 

Sincerely, 

should be dismissed.  52 U.S.C. § 30109. 

Nicholas G. Gamse 
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